IN THE SUPREME COURT OF IOWA

SUPREME COURT NO. 15-0741
CLAYTON COUNTY NO. LACV009564

JASON CANNON,
APPELLANT,

vs.

BODENSTEINER IMPLEMENT COMPANY,
ECK& GLASS, INC. d/b/a EPG INSURANCE, INC. and
CNH AMERICA LLC, d/b/a CASE IH
APPELLEES.

REVIEW OF DECISION OF IOWA COURT OF APPEALS DATED
MARCH 22, 2017

APPELLEE'S APPLICATION FOR FURTHER REVIEW

A. John Arenz AT0000547
McKenzie R. Hill AT0011482
O'CONNOR & THOMAS, P.C.
1000 Main Street
Dubuque, IA 52001
Phone: (563) 557-8400 Fax: (888) 391-3056
E-mail: jarenz@octhomaslaw.com
ATTORNEY FOR APPELLEE
BODENSTEINER IMPLEMENT COMPANY

QUESTIONS PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This is an appeal from a ruling of the Clayton County district court granting summary judgment in favor of Appellee Bodensteiner Implement Company (“Bodensteiner”) in an action brought against it by Appellant Jason Cannon (“Cannon”) regarding the sale of a used Case 305 tractor. This case commenced on April 22, 2013 when Cannon filed his Petition¹ containing claims against Bodensteiner for fraudulent misrepresentation, breach of express and implied warranties, breach of an implied covenant of good faith and fair dealing and equitable rescission. (App. V1 83-102)

On November 3, 2014 Bodensteiner filed a motion for summary judgment seeking the dismissal of all of Cannon’s claims against Bodensteiner. (App. V1 437-44). Cannon resisted the motion and a hearing was held on March 10, 2015. (App. V1 500-638; App. V2 965-1014) On March 30, 2015, the district court entered an Order granting Bodensteiner’s motion for summary judgment and dismissing all four of Cannon’s claims against Bodensteiner. (App. V1 136-44) Cannon filed a Notice of Appeal on May 1, 2015. (App. V1 145-6)

¹ After several parties and claims were added, Cannon filed a Recast of Claims in Plaintiff’s Petition Per Order of January 8, 2015 on January 22, 2015. (App. V1 83-102)

In its decision filed on March 22, 2017, the Court of Appeals reversed the district court's grant of summary judgment on Cannon's express warranties claim against Bodensteiner and affirmed the remainder of the district court's ruling. (Court of Appeals Decision)

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

Bodensteiner is a John Deere dealership that is authorized to sell new and used John Deere agricultural equipment. (App. V1 495) Bodensteiner has branches in Monticello and Clermont, plus others in Iowa that are not relevant here. Case IH ("Case") is a competitor of John Deere that also specializes in the manufacturing of agricultural equipment. Bodensteiner is not an authorized Case dealer, does not sell new Case tractors and is not authorized to perform any Case warranty work. (App. V1 495) Occasionally, Bodensteiner will accept "on trade" a used tractor from a competing manufacturer such as Case.

Cannon is a resident of Hawkeye, Iowa. (App. V2 902) He grew up on a farm and has farmed his whole life. (App. V2 902) Cannon has extensive knowledge about tractors and has owned five tractors in his lifetime and has driven many more. (App. V2 906) Cannon has worked in the custom manure pumping business for the last fourteen years. (App. V2 918) Cannon's business requires the use of a heavy duty tractor. (App. V1 137) As an

independent contractor and sole proprietor, Cannon provides his own large tractor to pull a manure tank. (App. V2 918) There is a very short window of time when manure can be applied to the farm fields each year. (App. V1 567) During those timeframes, Cannon and other manure haulers work as many as ten to twenty hours per day seven days a week. (App. V1 567)

In 2010 and the years immediately preceding, Cannon worked alongside brothers Brent Mitchell and Bruce Mitchell (“Mitchell brothers”) during the manure hauling season. (App. V2 908) The Mitchell brothers owned one or more large Case tractors and were familiar with the Case 305 tractor, the tractor at issue in this lawsuit. (App. V2 908) Cannon was impressed with the Case tractors used by the Mitchell brothers during the manure hauling season. (App. V1 137)

In 2008, Cannon purchased a used John Deere 8430 tractor (“John Deere tractor”) from Bodensteiner’s Clermont branch to use in his commercial operation. (App. V1 505) Just as the manure hauling season began in October of 2010, Cannon began having problems with his John Deere tractor. (App. V2 909) Cannon learned from Bodensteiner’s service department that his John Deere tractor would be down for repairs for an extended period of time. He could not afford to be without a tractor during the manure hauling season. (App. V2 909) Cannon was interested in trading

his John Deere tractor back to Bodensteiner in return for another tractor so he could work during the busy manure hauling season. (App. V2 909)

Cannon contacted Roger Monroe, a salesman at Bodensteiner's Clermont branch, and told him he was thinking of trading in his John Deere tractor and asked Monroe if Bodensteiner had a used "red" tractor² available for purchase. (App. V2 953) Monroe told Cannon that he would have to call him back because he needed to search the inventory on the computer and see what used tractors Bodensteiner had available. (App. V2 954) After obtaining basic information from the computer regarding the used Case 305 tractor available at the Monticello branch, Monroe called Phil Kluesner, the salesman in Monticello that received the Case 305 tractor in on trade from the original purchaser. (App. V2 954)

Kluesner told Monroe that they just got the Case 305 tractor in, that it had a Purchase Protection Plan on it from Case, that the former owner was Gansen Pumping of Zwingle ("Gansen"), and that to the best of his knowledge, it was a good tractor. (App. V2 954-5) Kluesner had briefly driven the Case 305 tractor around the lot at the Monticello branch and did not observe any problems. (App. V2 955)

² Red tractor means a Case IH tractor.

Monroe knew that Gansen, the former owner of the tractor, was also involved in the manure disposal business. (App. V2 955) At the time the Case 305 tractor was purchased by Gansen, it included a manufacturer's warranty and an additional product called a "Purchase Protection Plan" ("PPP") issued by EPG³ Insurance, Inc. (App. V1 138) The PPP became effective on November 18, 2008 and expired on April 21, 2013. (App. V1 138)

Monroe relayed the information he received from Kluesner to Cannon⁴. (App. V2 955) Cannon understood that Monroe had not actually seen or inspected the Case 305⁵ tractor himself. (App. V2 913) Cannon asked Monroe the details of the PPP, but Monroe, being a salesman at a John Deere dealership, did not know the details of the Case PPP and suggested that Cannon contact a Case dealer for that information. (App. V1 573) Cannon then contacted Windridge Implements, LLC ("Windridge") for information on the PPP and to confirm that it would transfer to him. (App. V1 573) Windridge is a Case dealer that is authorized to sell new and used

³ Although EPG Insurance, Inc. provided the PPP, the form, nature and extent of the protection plan was dictated by Case.

⁴ Cannon testified that he and Monroe joked around a lot during discussions regarding the Case tractor because Monroe is a John Deere salesman. (App. V1 574)

⁵ Cannon already knew that the Case 305 would be an appropriate tractor for manure hauling. He did not need Monroe to tell him that. (App. V1 572)

Case equipment and to perform Case warranty work. Windridge informed Cannon that the PPP on the 305 Case tractor would transfer effectively to him. (App. V1 573) Cannon states that the transfer of the PPP was the key selling point for him in purchasing the used Case tractor. (App. IV 926) Monroe told Cannon that there would be no warranty given by Bodensteiner. (App. V1 496)

Prior to purchasing the used Case tractor for his commercial operation, Cannon obtained advice from the Mitchell brothers because he thought he could get the “straight scoop” from Case tractor owners as opposed to a John Deere tractor salesman. (App. V1 546; App. V2 910) The Mitchell brothers told Cannon that Case 305 tractors are phenomenal tractors and people who have 305s love them. Cannon trusted the advice of the Mitchell brothers and relied upon their advice in deciding to purchase the used Case 305 tractor. (App. V2 910)

Monroe informed Cannon that Case 305 tractor was located in Monticello, and if he was interested in purchasing it at the Clermont branch he would have to pay \$1,000 to have it trucked up from Monticello to Clermont. (App. V2 956) Cannon understood that he could go to Monticello to inspect and test drive the tractor, but he elected to do none of those things before purchasing it because he was in a hurry to get a different tractor.

(App. V1 138, 588) Cannon directed Monroe to have the Case 305 tractor hauled to Clermont first thing in the morning. (App. V2 912) When the Case 305 tractor arrived at the Bodensteiner branch in Clermont, Monroe drove the tractor around for a block and a half and did not observe any problems. (App. V2 956)

On October 6, 2010, Cannon drove his John Deere tractor to Bodensteiner's Clermont branch, signed the purchase contract, purchased the used Case 305 tractor valued at \$139,000 payable in full with the trade-in of his John Deere tractor and paid Bodensteiner \$1,000 for the trucking fee. (App. V1 565; App. V2 902) The purchase contract provided that the PPP (Case Warranty) was included in the sale of the used Case 305 tractor. (App. V1 498-9)

Cannon had the opportunity to read the purchase contract prior to signing it. (App. V1 575) The purchase contract stated in part,

“IMPORTANT WARRANTY NOTICE. The John Deere warranty applicable to new John Deere product(s) is printed on the back side of this document. There is no warranty on used products...**YOUR RIGHTS AND REMEDIES PERTAINING TO THIS PURCHASE ARE LIMITED AS SET FORTH IN THE WARRANTY AND THIS CONTRACT. IMPLIED WARRANTIES OF MERCHANTABILITY AND FITNESS ARE NOT MADE AND ARE EXCLUDED UNLESS SPECIFICALLY PROVIDED IN THE JOHN DEERE WARRANTY.**

...

WHAT IS NOT WARRANTED – JOHN DEERE IS NOT RESPONSIBLE FOR THE FOLLOWING: (1) Used Products;

...

Where permitted by law, neither John Deere or any company affiliated with it makes any warranties or representations, or promises, express or implied as to the quality or performance, or freedom from defect of its agricultural products other than those set forth above

...

NO DEALER WARRANTY – THE SELLING DEALER MAKES NO WARRANTY OF ITS OWN AND THE DEALER HAS NO AUTHORITY TO MAKE ANY REPRESENTATION OR PROMISE ON BEHALF OF JOHN DEERE, OR TO MODIFY THE TERMS OR LIMITATIONS OF THIS WARRANTY IN ANY WAY.”

(App. V1 498-9) All express and implied warranties were disclaimed in the purchase contract. (App. V1 495-6) When the Case 305 tractor arrived in Clermont, Cannon drove the Case 305 tractor for the first time back to his house. (App. V2 908) Cannon did not observe any problems with the tractor on his ten mile ride home. (App. V2 914)

Cannon first noticed something was wrong with the tractor when he put it under a significant load. (App. V1 566; App. V2 915) Cannon immediately contacted Windridge’s (the Case dealership) service department to fix the tractor pursuant to the PPP. (App. V2 915) Cannon has not sought to have Bodensteiner⁶ repair the Case 305 tractor since he purchased it. (App. V1 568) Despite having Windridge mechanics, the Windridge service

⁶No employee of Bodensteiner had any knowledge of any defect or mechanical problem with the used Case tractor. (App. V1 495-6)

manager, a Case field representative and a Case technical support person work on the Case 305 tractor, Cannon has been unable to find any person who can identify what is wrong with it. (App. V1 574) Windridge alone has spent more than 300 hours trying to repair Cannon's tractor. (App. V2 925) On August 23, 2013, Cannon sent a letter to Case demanding that they honor their warranty and fix or replace his tractor. (App. V2 923) Cannon has decided that the Case 305 tractor is a lemon and there is no point in obtaining further repairs. (App. V1 139)

ARGUMENT

I. The Court of Appeals incorrectly held it could not rule on the effectiveness of a disclaimer of an express warranty until a factual determination was made on whether oral statements created a warranty.

Express warranties for the sale of goods are governed by the Uniform Commercial Code in section 554.2313 of the Iowa Code. *See* Iowa Code § 554.2313. This provision requires “an affirmation of fact or promise made by the seller to the buyer which relates to the goods and becomes part of the basis of the bargain.” Iowa Code § 554.2313(1). For a plaintiff to prove a breach of an express warranty based on sales representations, there must be a finding the sale would not have been made but for the representations. *Dailey v. Holiday Distrib. Corp.*, 260 Iowa 859, 869, 151 N.W.2d 477, 484

(Iowa 1967). Overall, express warranties must be “relative to what would normally pass in the trade without objection under the contract description.”

Kolarik v. Cory Intern. Corp., 721 N.W.2d 159, 164 (Iowa 2006)

While express warranties may be created pursuant to Iowa Code § 554.2313 by representations made by the seller, Iowa Code § 554.2316 permits sellers to exclude or modify express warranties,

“Words or conduct relevant to the creation of an express warranty and words or conduct tending to negate or limit warranty shall be construed wherever reasonable as consistent with each other; but subject to the provisions of this Article on parol or extrinsic evidence (section 554.2202) negation or limitation is inoperative to the extent that such construction is unreasonable.”

Iowa Code §554.2316(1) gives effect to disclaimers of express warranties when the language of the express warranty and the disclaimer can be construed as consistent with one another. The plaintiff must comply with the parol evidence rule when attempting to establish any inconsistency. Iowa Code § 554.2316(1).

The district court found in granting Bodensteiner’s motion for summary judgment that “[t]he written contract between these parties disclaimed any express warranties other than the extended warranty or PPP, and there is no dispute that Cannon got the benefit of the PPP.” (App. V1 141) On appeal, the Court of Appeals’ task was to determine whether a genuine issue of material fact existed and whether the district court correctly

applied the law. *Farm & City Ins. Co. v. Anderson*, 509 N.W.2d 487, 489 (Iowa 1993). Appellate review of a district court's decision on summary judgment is for correction of errors at law. *Hagen v. Texaco Refining & Marketing, Inc.*, 526 N.W.2d 531, 534 (Iowa 1995) The district court's findings of fact have the effect of a jury verdict and are binding on the Court of Appeals if supported by substantial evidence. *Grinnell Mut. Reinsurance Co. v. Voeltz*, 431 N.W.2d 783, 785 (Iowa 1988). In case of doubt or ambiguity, the Court of Appeals is to construe the district court's findings of fact to uphold, rather than defeat, the judgment. *Id.*

The Court of Appeals reversed the district court's grant of summary judgment on Cannon's express warranties claim because it found a genuine issue of material fact existed regarding whether the oral statements at issue were express warranties or mere opinion. In its ruling, the Court of Appeals briefly mentions that express warranties can be disclaimed, but does not discuss or examine the disclaimer at issue in the purchase contract. Likewise, the Court does not evaluate the district court's holding that the written contract disclaimed any express warranties. The Court simply concludes, without citing any supporting authority, that Bodensteiner's defense of a disclaimer is subject to the determination of whether Monroe's

oral representations constitute an express warranty or mere opinion. (Court of Appeals Decision)

The Court of Appeals did not determine whether the district court correctly applied the law regarding disclaimers of express warranties, as it found it could not reach that question until a jury determined whether the oral statements were express warranties. (Court of Appeals Decision) This conclusion is not supported by Iowa case law as many courts have ruled on disclaimers without determining if an express warranty was created. The Court of Appeals' ruling will have undesirable effects on judicial efficiency as it will force parties through costly trials to determine issues that could be determined much earlier on summary judgment.

The Court of Appeals cites *Tralon Corp. v. Cedarapids, Inc.* as support for the proposition that it is a question of fact whether oral statements are express warranties or just opinion. 966 F. Supp. 812, 826 (N.D. Iowa 1997). However, in *Tralon Corp.*, the defendant never argued that a disclaimer in the contract effectively disclaimed the express warranty. In that case, the court had to face the issue of whether an express warranty was created. In *Redmac, Inc. v. Computerland of Peoria*, the Illinois Appellate Court held “No bright-line distinction between express warranties and puffing exists. Whether the issue is one of law or fact may be debatable;

however it is generally considered a question of fact.” 140 Ill. App. 3d 741, 743 (Ill. App. 1986). However, in *Redman* the defendant did not argue (and presumably, could not, given the particular facts of that case) that the express warranties were effectively disclaimed. *Id.*

Many Iowa courts have dismissed express warranty claims by finding that a disclaimer was effective, and they have done this without determining if oral statements qualified as an express warranty. In *Iowa Elec. Light & Power Co. v. Allis-Chalmers Mfg. Co.*, 360 F.Supp. 25, 34 (S.D.Iowa 1973), the district court dismissed plaintiff’s express warranty claim on summary judgment, finding that the disclaimer in the contract was “simply too clear to be subject to the interpretation plaintiff seeks to give it.” Similarly, in *Crowley v. New Piper Aircraft Corp*, No. LALA002464, 2006 WL 3059914, at *16 (Iowa Dist. Aug. 23, 2006), an Iowa district court granted summary judgment on plaintiff’s express warranty claims, finding the contractual disclaimers effective at limiting the type of damages plaintiff seeks. *See also Midwest Printing, Inc. v. AM Int’l, Inc.*, 108 F.3d 168, 171 (8th Cir. 1997).

Cannon argues that oral statements made by Monroe that “the tractor was in good condition” and “ready to go” became express warranties under Iowa Code § 554.2313 (App. V1 588) The disclaimers in the purchase contract stated in part,

“IMPORTANT WARRANTY NOTICE. The John Deere warranty applicable to new John Deere product(s) is printed on the back side of this document. There is no warranty on used products...**YOUR RIGHTS AND REMEDIES PERTAINING TO THIS PURCHASE ARE LIMITED AS SET FORTH IN THE WARRANTY AND THIS CONTRACT. IMPLIED WARRANTIES OF MERCHANTABILITY AND FITNESS ARE NOT MADE AND ARE EXCLUDED UNLESS SPECIFICALLY PROVIDED IN THE JOHN DEERE WARRANTY.**

...

WHAT IS NOT WARRANTED – JOHN DEERE IS NOT RESPONSIBLE FOR THE FOLLOWING: (1) Used Products;

...

Where permitted by law, neither John Deere or any company affiliated with it makes any warranties or representations, or promises, express or implied as to the quality or performance, or freedom from defect of its agricultural products other than those set forth above

...

NO DEALER WARRANTY – THE SELLING DEALER MAKES NO WARRANTY OF ITS OWN AND THE DEALER HAS NO AUTHORITY TO MAKE ANY REPRESENTATION OR PROMISE ON BEHALF OF JOHN DEERE, OR TO MODIFY THE TERMS OR LIMITATIONS OF THIS WARRANTY IN ANY WAY.”

(App. V1 498-9) Assuming arguendo that the oral statements by Monroe qualify as express warranties, the warranties can be disclaimed as long as the language creating the express warranty can be construed as consistent with the language disclaiming the express warranty. Iowa Code §554.2316(1).

Monroe’s purported oral statements and the disclaimer in the purchase contract can reasonably be construed as consistent with each other. The comments regarding the tractor being “fit” and “ready to go” were

interpreted by Cannon to mean that the tractor was setup properly for hauling manure. (App. V1 586) When the tractor was delivered to Bodensteiner's Clermont branch, Cannon noticed one issue with the draw bar which needed to be fixed before Cannon could haul manure with the tractor. (App. V2 936, 956) Monroe immediately replaced the draw bar with a bigger, heavier draw bar before Cannon drove the tractor home. (App. V1 572, 614) When Cannon drove the used Case 305 tractor off Bodensteiner's lot, it was set up properly to haul manure which is consistent with Monroe's oral statements that the tractor was "ready to go".

As for there being no warranty from John Deere or Bodensteiner on the used Case tractor, the purchase contract specifically provided that the Case Warranty (the PPP) was included in the trade. No other warranty was part of the purchase contract, which both parties signed. (App. V1 498-9) The inclusion of the express warranty regarding the Case PPP is consistent with the disclaimer language on the purchase contract which states that there is "**NO DEALER WARRANTY – THE SELLING DEALER MAKES NO WARRANTY OF ITS OWN**" and "There is no warranty on used products." (App. V1 498-9)

Moreover, it was clear to Cannon that John Deere and Bodensteiner were making no warranty on the used Case tractor. The following excerpt

from Cannon's deposition reveals that he did not believe Bodensteiner or John Deere gave any warranty on the used Case 305 tractor,

Q. It is your understanding there is only one [PPP] and that is the [PPP] that was purchased when the tractor was originally bought from Scherrman Implement?

A. No. I was told there was two.

Q. You were told there were two [PPPs]?

A. Well, not [PPPs], there was two warranties.

Q. First was the Case warranty that came from the manufacturer?

A. Yes.

Q. And the second was this [PPP]?

A. Yes, that is what sold the tractor.

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