IN THE SUPREME COURT OF IOWA

No. 15-0741

JASON CANNON

Appellant,

VS.

BODENSTEINER IMPLEMENT COMPANY, ECK & GLASS, INC. d/b/a EPG INSURANCE, INC. and CNH AMERICA LLC, d/b/a CASE IH

Appellees.

APPEAL FROM THE IOWA DISTRICT COURT IN AND FOR CLAYTON COUNTY THE HONORABLE JOHN BAUERCAMPER

RESISTANCE TO APPLICATION FOR FURTHER REVIEW

JUDITH O'DONOHOE - AT0005849 ELWOOD, O'DONOHOE, BRAUN, WHITE, LLP 116 North Main Street, P.O. Box 307 Charles City, IA 50616 (641) 228-8054 (641) 228-8057 - Fax charlescity@elwoodlawfirm.com

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

CERTIFICATE OF FILING

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

Bodensteiner's mechanic at the Clermont dealership, Neil, said that the tractor was a good tractor and that Cannon would be happy with what he was getting including the horsepower(Vol I-556); Monroe advised Cannon that he knew of the Case Magnum 305 and it was a good tractor(Vol I-App546).

Monroe stated that he would not have the tractor trucked to

Monticello from Clermont for Cannon unless he agreed to purchase it in

advance. The purchase price was to be \$139,000, \$1,000 cash and the balance in trade-in of his 8430 John Deere tractor, which needed a head gasket, and would be down for three weeks with the repair, under his J.D. warranty(Vol I-App545,586,588,613,615,637-638). The day of delivery of the tractor, 10/6/2010, Monroe told Cannon that the Case 305 Magnum tractor had been in the shop and everything tested out(Vol I-App586). Monroe also told Cannon that the tractor was ready to go for manure hauling. Cannon found out later that these statements were untrue(Vol I-545,558). Monroe claims he drove the Case 305 when it arrived at the dealership 10/6/10 before calling Cannon(Vol I-App592).

As a salesman, Monroe indicated that he had experience with tractors and their use for manure hauling and had sold tractors to other manure haulers(Vol I-App597-601,604-605). His responsibility, as a salesman, included an inspection of the tractor with the aid of a mechanic before taking it in on trade. He also routinely runs the tractor and asks the owner questions about how it has worked(Vol I-App600-601). Before reselling a tractor, the tractor is inspected by the dealership mechanic and serviced(Vol I-App601-604).

Monroe acknowledged that he has known Cannon for a long time through previous transactions and that Cannon asked him whether the Case

305 tractor was appropriate for manure hauling(Vol I-App605-606). Monroe spoke to the Monticello dealership salesman, Phil Kluesner, who took the Case 305 tractor in on trade from Gansen Pumping. Kluesner told him that it was a good tractor, it had been used satisfactorily for manure pumping, it passed inspection at the Monticello dealership, and had been driven satisfactorily(Vol I-App606-612). This information was passed onto Cannon by Monroe who acknowledged that he told Cannon the tractor was in good condition(Vol I-App592). Based on the information provided to Cannon and the fact that they did a thorough inspection of Cannon's John Deere tractor before they accepted it on trade, Cannon believed that the Case 305 would have been carefully inspected so he agreed to purchase it sight unseen(Vol I-App585).

Cannon's test drive of the tractor occurred after he picked it up from the Clermont dealership and had traded in his tractor and paid \$1,000. He drove it ten miles to his home(Vol I-App544,608-609). When Cannon picked up the tractor Monroe had him sign a form which referenced purchase of John Deere equipment only. The purchase form(App498-9), states that the purchaser had already accepted the tractor. It did not provide an option to refuse it. Cannon believed that he had to accept the tractor before it was trucked up to the Clermont dealership(Vol I-App586-588,609).

The information on the front of the purchase form appeared to be a disclaimer of warranties as it related to John Deere products but did not speak directly to the issue of the Case 305 tractor (App495-499). Cannon relied on Monroe's superior knowledge of tractors and their use in the manure hauling business to help him locate a tractor that would be satisfactory. This was known to Monroe who false made representations about the specific tractor, its appropriateness and adequacy(Vol I-App536,545,558, 637). The purchase form specifically references "Case Warranty", in handwriting and was signed by Monroe and Cannon on 10/6/10; it was not actually signed and accepted by the dealership until 10/11/2010(Vol I-App609-610).

On 10/6/2010, after Cannon drove the tractor home and hooked it up to an empty tank, and he noticed it did not have enough pulling power. He identified that the problem was with the turbo and immediately spoke to Monroe, who told him perhaps the filters were clogged and should be checked. Cannon then observed that 12 turbo bolts were broken and rusted, a condition that had existed for some time and should have been known to Bodensteiner if it had conducted an inspection(Vol I-App547,552, 568-569,578).

After hooking up when starting his work still on 10/6/2010, 19th gear went out of the tractor(Vol I-App552) followed by the hydraulic pump exploding(Vol I-App546,632,637). Cannon asked Monroe, within a day or two of taking delivery of the tractor, for a loaner while the Case 305 was being repaired under the Case warranty by Windridge. Monroe said that this was not possible(Vol I-App637-638). Shortly after 10/6/2010, the transmission overheated and the brakes failed. This had been a recurrent problem for the previous owner, Gansen Pumping(Vol I-App553, 578).

At first, Cannon believed that the tractor was fixable(Vol I-App543). After a series of repairs and re-occurrences, it was clear that the problem was not fixable(Vol I-App637-638). Monroe agreed that incidence of repairs of the brakes was excessive(Vol I-App611).

Cannon states either that no inspections was done by Bodensteiner or if done any obvious problems where covered up(Vol I-App574). After the repeated problems with the transmission overheating and the brakes failing, Cannon talked to Schermann's Implement, a case dealership's service manager about service provided to Gansen Pumping. He told Cannon that the first time the brakes failed he thought it was possible operator misuse, but when they went out again, he decided it was an inherent mechanical problem with the manufacture of the tractor(Vol I-App576-577,633).

After taking delivery from Windridge of the tractor following extensive repairs, the brakes failed almost immediately and the tractor had to be parked as Windridge had no idea of how to fix the problem(Vol I-App575). Since the tractor is unrepairable, Cannon wants to revoke acceptance of it and receive a refund of his original purchase price plus out of pocket expenses(Vol I-App637-638). There is no evidence anyone used or offered to purchase the tractor by Gansen Pumping from March 2010, after its trade-in until Cannon's purchase in October 2010(Vol I-App495-499,531-532).

REPLY TO ARGUMENT UNDER ISSUE I RE: ALLEGED FAILURE OF THE COURT OF APPEALS TO RECOGNIZE THE SIGNIFICANCE OF THE DISCLAIMER OF EXPRESS WARRANTIES DELIVERED TO CANNON AFTER HE HAD ALREADY AGREED TO THE PURCHASE OF THE CASE TRACTOR

With indignation, Bodensteiner argues that the Court of Appeals did not adequately weigh the legal significance of the written disclaimer in its form delivered to Jason after he had orally agreed to the terms for purchase of the tractor. The Court of Appeals references the form in its decision, page 12: "2) Breach of Implied and Express Warranties" identified the issues: 1) whether the disclaimer was delivered post-sale; and 2) whether the disclaimer was conspicuous within the meaning of §554.1201(2)(j) but stated they gave rise to the factual disputes. It is well settled that a printed

document disclaiming warranties, which is delivered to a buyer after the deal has been made is ineffective. See <u>C&J Fertilizer Inc v Allied Mutual</u>

<u>Insurance Company</u>, 227 NW2d 169, *dicta*, 178 (IA1975); <u>Turner v Kunde</u>, 128 NW2d 196,198 (IA 1964), (holding that a disclaimer of warranties on a shipping slip which accompanied delivery of goods after the terms of the sale had been determined was ineffective). For similar holdings see <u>Taterka v Ford Motor Company</u>, 271 NW2d 653,655-6 (WI 1978), <u>Helena Chemical Co v Sun Refining and Marketing Co</u>, 255 A.D.2d 869 (4th App Div NY, pg366-7) (NYApp 1998), <u>Fieldtech Avionics & Instruments Inc v</u>

<u>Component Control</u>, 262 SW3d 813,829 (TX App 2008).

There is insufficient information in the record to hold as a matter of law that the deal was not made prior to the signature of the one-page Bodensteiner form which it is relying on as a disclaimer of all warranties. Salesman Monroe, characterizes it as a "purchase order" (App609). The form itself does not have a title except: "For John Deere Products (U.S. only)" (App498). Both Cannon and salesman Monroe indicated that Cannon had to agree to purchase the tractor on specific terms including the transportation costs before Bodensteiner would transport the tractor from Monticello to Clermont and that this transport of the tractor occurred before salesman Monroe presented any paperwork to Cannon (App547-548,565,608). Since

the issue is ordinarily one of fact to be determined by the factfinder and there is a clear dispute of fact as to whether the "purchase order" signed after the sales agreement would constitute an effective disclaimer of warranties it cannot be concluded on a MSJ, <u>Limited Flying Club Inc v Wood</u>, 632 F2d 51 (8th Cir (IA) 1980).

Bodensteiner also argued that the statements ascribed to salesman Monroe could give rise to an express warranty. This question was discussed in Nationwide Agribusiness Insurance Co v SMA Elevator Construction, Inc, 816 FSupp2d 631,677 (ND Iowa, 2011) in a detailed opinion by Federal District Court Judge Mark Bennett. In the context of deciding whether a defendant's description that a grain elevator would be built as "state of the art" or "turnkey" is sufficient to raise a question of fact regarding whether the statements were mere puffery or opinion. The statements made by Monroe and the mechanic Neil to Cannon, according to Cannon, are a lot more detailed and include information that the tractor has been checked and is ready to go, is a good tractor, will fit the purpose of being utilized in a manure hauling context, that it has been inspected and that there are no known problems with it. In Reilley Construction Co Inc v Bachelder Inc, 863 NW2d 302 (Table), (IA App2015, pg 4), the Court of Appeals held that a comment by a pond construction contractor that he could "do a pond" at a

staked location was sufficient to make an oral contract with the landowner for construction of a pond expressly warranted to hold water.

Summarizing, Bodensteiner's argument does not give fair credit to the Court of Appeals. It acknowledges that there is no proof as a matter of law that the disclaimer was incorporated as part of the contract and how it was to be construed since it was subsequently delivered. Further, it cites no case law that would support its assertion that the words utilized by salesman Monroe were mere puffery or opinon as a matter of law. Bodensteiner sidesteps both issues entirely in its argument. It assumes for the purposes of its argument that the disclaimer is effective against the warranty despite of the lack of simultaneity and argues without citation that there is a legal rule that oral sales agreements must always be construed with reference to subsequently delivered written statements regarding the product.

REPLY TO ARGUMENT AS TO ISSUE II - WHETHER THE COURT OF APPEAL INCORRECTLY HELD THERE WAS A GENUINE ISSUE OF MATERIAL FACTS REGARDING ORAL STATEMENTS WHICH BODENSTEINER CLAIMS WERE NOT A "BASIS OF THE BARGAIN"

The statement of the issue assumes a fact which was not proved as a matter of law, i.e. that salesman Monroe's oral statements to Cannon to induce him to purchase a tractor sight unseen were not a basis for the sales agreement. It raises a new argument not raised below, that statements

regarding the condition of the tractor could not be characterized as express warranties because the buyer, prior to purchase, did not inspect the product, citing the Federal court decision of Williams v Mid-Iowa Equipment Inc. 2015 WL12731737. This is a ruling on a motion for summary judgment authored by Ross A. Walters, U.S. Magistrate for the Southern District of Iowa. It does not hold that a statement that a tractor is "100% field ready" is negated by a failure to inspect. Instead, it points to a written contract for sale generated as a result of the auction which indicates that the tractor is sold "as is" with no specified guarantees. The court correctly held that if the statement "100% field ready" was to be made part of the contract it should have been referred to in the written contract in light of the "as is" language. In contrast, the document signed by Cannon and Monroe, was signed 10/6/2010 just before Cannon drove the Case tractor away, contains a statement that the dealership was not liable if there is a delay in delivering the product from the manufacturer. Below the title "For John Deere Products Only" this is in very small print and followed by another paragraph of small print which indicates that the item conveyed will have a clear title. This is followed by more print which is quite small that indicates that the John Deere warranty applicable to new John Deere products is printed on the back and that it should be read carefully and that rights and remedies

pertaining to the purchase are limited to the warranty set forth in the contract, followed by the comment that implied warranties of merchantability and fitness are not made and are excluded unless specifically provided in the John Deere warranty. The entire contract speaks only to relate only to sale of John Deere products and makes no representation which would contradict the quality statements made by Monroe to Cannon as to the Case tractor.

This part of the argument also misstates the record by indicating that the problems were not observable upon inspection. Cannon specifically stated that the problem with the turbo would have been viewable on inspection and that some of the other problems which occurred within hours of driving the tractor home, such as warning lights and the failure of 19th gear should also have been detectable if the tractor had been driven at all at the Monticello dealership. It then makes another factual argument that Cannon knew salesman Monroe had not inspected the tractor before it was trucked up to Clermont and therefore he should not have believed the warranties. A review of depositions clearly indicates that Monroe told Cannon he was getting information from the Monticello dealership regarding the tractor which included the representation that it was a good tractor, that it had been checked or tested or inspected and that it was ready to go.

The final argument is the polemic that Cannon could not possibly rely on statements by a John Deere dealership about a case product. There is no factual citation for this proposition other than that Cannon admitted that there was a Case warranty with extended warranty protection on the tractor. This observation contradicts the undisputed fact that Cannon was looking for a different tractor because his John Deere would be subject to repairs for 2-3 weeks during the peek manure hauling season. The J.D. tractor had a warranty and the work that was to be done on it was covered by the warranty so the fact that the Case tractor was covered by a warranty would not solve Cannon's problem which was that he needed a tractor suitable for manure hauling which was ready to go at that moment.

CONCLUSION

In conclusion, the Court of Appeals most likely should not have upheld summary judgment for Bodensteiners on the grounds of fraudulent misrepresentation, breach of implied warranties, breach of covenant of good faith and fair dealing and rescission. If the court accepts further review of this case, then Cannon is asking that it review these issues as well.

Bodensteiner's application for further review attempts to dramatize the issue to constitutional proportions and then fails to cite either factual or legal support for its claim that the trial court could appropriately decide the

express warranty issue as a matter of law. The application for further review should be denied.